Background Research Paper on Justice for Children in the Pandemic:

Informing a companion briefing for the Justice in a Pandemic Series

A research paper to inform the *Justice for Children, Justice for All* companion briefing to the Pathfinders for Justice: *Justice in a Pandemic Briefing Series*.

Marine Braun, Independent Child Rights Consultant Susan Elsley, Independent Child Rights Consultant March 2021 This *Background Paper* builds on the *Justice for Children Call to Action*¹, which offers a new starting point to place children at the heart of an emerging global movement for justice; forwarding our collective global commitment to ensuring that all children live peaceful, just and inclusive lives and achieve their full potential. It is written to inform the *Justice for Children in a Pandemic* briefings series by the Pathfinders for Peace, Just and Inclusive Societies.

Citation:

Braun, M. and Elsley, S (2021). Background Research Paper on Justice for Children in the Pandemic: Informing the companion briefing for the Justice in a Pandemic Series. University of Strathclyde, UK

https://www.justice.sdg16.plus/justiceforchildren

Acknowledgements:

The authors are grateful to the core team partners and Technical Working Group participants who generously gave their time directing the team to key ideas and references; and to those who commented on earlier drafts of the paper. We are also grateful to CELCIS (the Centre for Children's Care and Protection in Scotland) for their support to this project.

Disclaimer:

The contents do not necessarily reflect the policies or the views of these organisations nor of the University of Strathclyde. The designations employed and the presentation of the material do not imply on the part of the funders or authors the expression of any opinion whatsoever concerning the legal status of any country or territory, or of its authorities or the delimitation of its frontiers.

Copyright: University of Strathclyde.

Any part of this Briefing may be freely reproduced with the appropriate acknowledgement. Permission to translate all or any part of this Briefing should be obtained through the Institute for Inspiring Children's Futures at the University of Strathclyde: www.inspiringchildrensfutures.org

© University of Strathclyde. March 2021

Table of Contents

E>	xecutive Summary	
1.	INTRODUCTION	
	1.1. Impact of COVID-19 on children	7
	1.2. A distinctive response to children	7
	1.3. Briefing: Justice for Children in the light of COVID-19	8
2.		
	2.1. Impact on economic justice: Higher levels of inequalities	13
	Rise in child poverty rates	13
	Impact on adequate standard of living	14
	Restricted access to food and nutrition	
	Impact on children facing adversities pre-pandemic	
	Increase in the digital divide	
	1.2. Impact on social justice: the well-being of the child as an individual	17
	Negative effects of restrictions	17
	Impact on children facing serious adversities pre-pandemic	18
	Increased need for physical activity	18
	Increased physical health problems	
	2.3. Impact on social justice: the well-being of families and communities	20
	Higher levels of family stress	20
	Increased risks of violence, exploitation and abuse	
	2.4. Impact on social justice: COVID-19 and the response of public services	22
	Impact on schools and education	22
	Restricted access to healthcare	
	Increased need for mental health services	
	Support to families	
	2.5. Impact on criminal, civil and administrative justice: COVID-19 and justice system responses	
	Reduced and limited functioning of formal justice systems	
	Delays and cancellation of training of justice professionals	
	Isolation and loss of family visits	
	Alternatives to detention	
	Customary and informal justice systems	
	Discrimination in legal identity or status	
3	CONCLUSION	

Executive Summary

This *Background Paper* explores the impact of COVID-19 on children's well-being in the first year of the pandemic and the effects this has on children's experiences of justice.

It is based on an understanding of justice, which aims to overcome the challenges children face in accessing legal justice and promotes justice as an enabler of children's opportunities and development to their full potential. The paper builds on the *Justice for Children, Justice for All*² vision to: "respond to children's distinct needs and realize their full range of rights and opportunities, to achieve peaceful, just and inclusive societies for all". It offers insights into promising practices and identifies areas for change in the light of the impact of COVID-19 on children's lives.

This Background Paper aims to highlight the key impacts of COVID-19 on the Justice Challenges facing children, and the barriers to achieving SDG16+³ needing urgent attention. It was developed with the *Justice for Children, Justice for All* core group, and commissioned by the Institute for Inspiring Children's Futures at the University of Strathclyde, Scotland, to advise international, national and local justice leaders in government, non-governmental and civil society organisations around the world to inform their responses in this pandemic. It draws on contributions from the *Justice for Children, Justice for All Technical Working Group of global experts* as part of a consultative approach.

Impact: In this report the impacts of COVID-19 on children's well-being have been examined across four areas:

- Impacts on children's inequalities;
- Impacts on the child as an individual;
- Impacts on children, their family and communities;
- Impacts on children's access to public services.

The rapid spread of COVID-19 has brought complex challenges and rapid responses throughout the world, with children experiencing protracted periods of lockdown and isolation from other children, other family members and their communities. In addition, children are experiencing sudden and increased poverty, loss of education, poor physical and mental health, pressures on their families, a rise in new and existing vulnerabilities and social restrictions.

Higher levels of inequalities

Since the start of the pandemic, the situation for many children has worsened and the inequality gap is widening. COVID-19 has significantly disrupted the lives of children. Child poverty has increased with parents losing jobs and family income. COVID-19 has disrupted access to services and goods that enable children to have an adequate standard of living. Access to water, food and nutrition has been more difficult during the pandemic, cases of violence against children have exploded and the crisis has reinforced existing digital inequalities.

The situation has made the lives of already vulnerable children more difficult and their survival more challenging. It has impacted girls, children from ethnic and minority groups, children with disabilities or special needs, migrant children, children without parental care, and children deprived of liberty.

Impact on the child as an individual

The emergency restrictions imposed by national governments have had a major impact on the lives of children. The impact of COVID-19 has resulted in negative feelings for many children who feel isolated and has affected their mental and physical health, well-being and access to their basic rights to education, health, play, culture and leisure.

Groups of children who were already facing pre-pandemic adversities, such as children in the justice system, children in out-of-home care, children with health problems or disabilities, or those who identify as LGBTQ+, have reported higher anxiety and depression scores, and lower levels of well-being than before the pandemic.

Impact on family and community

The COVID-19 pandemic and related measures have increased the stress level of adults and disrupted the daily lives of families. This has led to anxiety and emotional insecurity for children. Among parents who found life more difficult in confined situations, children's psychological distress was higher, and children had more emotional and behavioural problems.

There has been an increase in the number of children exposed to domestic violence, including online and sexual exploitation. Maintaining systems that protect children has become increasingly difficult. These trends in child abuse have significant immediate and long-term consequences for the mental health and psychosocial well-being of children.

Child maltreatment has seen an increase, particularly for children deprived of their liberty or living on the streets, in institutions, associated with armed forces or groups, engaged in child labour or living in situations of conflict and fragility. This has also applied to refugee, internally displaced, migrant and stateless children who are more vulnerable to neglect, abuse and violence.

Impact on public services

The pandemic has caused massive disruption to universal services such as education, health care, a well-functioning child protection system,⁴ and a justice system that allows litigants to seek redress or complain about the violation of their rights.

Children's access to schooling has been severely impacted. It has exacerbated existing inequalities and increased learning loss, as well as increased challenges in access to digital resources and skills. Closure of schools has meant that children have not benefited from interaction with friends and teachers.

Diminished access to health care services has had a direct effect on the physical and mental health of children. Many initiatives such as hotlines and online tools have been developed since the beginning of the pandemic.

COVID-19 interrupted formal justice services when children needed them most. There have been problems such as challenges in the use of online hearings of children, delays or interruptions in court proceedings, and which have had a greater impact on children whose rights are most vulnerable to being breached. However, the crisis also provided an opportunity to release children deprived of their liberty prematurely and to consider alternatives to detention and post-release plans for a better reintegration into society.

Informal justice services have also been disrupted but very little information is available during the COVID period.

Finally, although there continues to be problems in obtaining documents proving identity and legal status, there has been some progress in digitising services that has meant that children could access documentation.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Impact of COVID-19 on children

About 1 in 3 people across the globe is a child.⁵ Yet, while the sustainable development agenda pledges to *leave no one behind*, there is a stark gap when it comes to measuring, understanding, and fulfilling this global ambition for children. This gap is made worse by COVID-19.

COVID-19 is shining a light on inequalities around the globe. Both the virus, and the restrictions to control it, are disproportionately impacting on some individuals, groups and communities, revealing the disparities and social problems which already exist. These are the people to whom there is a global commitment to include, and to not leave behind, in our collective efforts to reach the UN Sustainable Development Goals by 2030.

The pandemic is having a differential impact on children. For most children, their health is less at risk from the coronavirus than adults. However, the impact of public health restrictions has meant that many children have become invisible and unheard, creating a greater risk of long-term social harms. Where children are amongst the most excluded groups, their rights are at the greatest risk of being breached, and their outcomes the poorest. This situation of heightened marginalisation is made worse by COVID-19. Unless we direct our attention to children as a global community, we will fail in our ambition to leave no-one behind.

1.2. A distinctive response to children

Children have specific needs, rights and capacities. They differ from adults in their physical and psychological development, their emotional and educational needs and their evolving capacities. They face particular challenges in living just and inclusive lives due to their age, maturity and status and because they are dependent on the care of adults and the communities around them. In order to fulfil their potential, they need specialised approaches to determine their best interests and realise their rights. Responding differently to children and engaging them as agents of change, is essential for the successful delivery of global goals for everyone.

The SDG 16 seeks to "Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels." *The Justice for Children Call to Action*⁶ offers a starting point to place children at the heart of an emerging global movement for justice; forwarding our collective global commitment to ensuring that all children live peaceful, just and inclusive lives and achieve their full potential.

As we manage the challenges of COVID-19, Justice for Children is promoting justice as an enabler of children's opportunities and development to their full potential and calls for all to go well beyond the need to overcome the challenges children face in accessing legal justice.

1.3. Briefing: Justice for Children in the light of COVID-19

This background Paper has been written to inform a companion Briefing to the *Justice in a Pandemic* series, led by the Pathfinders for Peace, Just and Inclusive Societies, exploring *Justice for Children, Justice for All: Applying Lessons from the Pandemic Briefing.* The Pathfinders are an alliance of high level justice actors exploring how people-centred justice can help societies deliver SDG 16 and build more just societies for the future. This background Paper builds on what we knew about children's existing justice needs prepandemic, as documented earlier in the *Pathfinders for Justice: Justice for Children Call to Action*⁷ and *Challenge Paper*⁸ (2019).

Communities and governments are wrestling with how to respond to the immediate crisis of COVID-19. They are also responding to the economic crisis COVID-19 has created, as well as attending to immediate and future social harms. The volatile, uncertain, complex and ambiguous⁹ nature of our global realities under COVID-19 have brought extraordinary challenges. At the same time, these realities are accelerating innovations that previously might have taken a generation to achieve. This background Paper aims to highlight the challenges as well as provide examples of promising approaches and providing possible responses for all those with responsibilities for children - from national government to local communities. Conducted through a desk review, it faces inevitable constraints in terms of gathering comprehensive and comparable evidence and data. It draws on grey and published literature, blogs, technical briefs, reports, and statements by relevant organisations, as well as contributions from the *Justice for Children, Justice for All core group* and from the *Technical Working Group global experts* as part of a consultative approach.

This background Paper considers the impact of COVID-19 on children's well-being in the following ways:

- The impact of COVID-19 on children, their families and communities;
- The distinct response to children that is required to address the injustices they face;
- It draws on examples of emerging promising practice;
- It takes into account children's views through international surveys and literature.

This Paper builds on previous *Justice for All* and *Justice for Children* publications:

What is justice?

'Justice in all its forms includes criminal, civil and administrative justice, as well as economic, social and cultural justice. To ensure this justice, children need access to universal services such as education and health care, and a justice system adapted to the rights and needs of children to prevent harm, to claim their rights, to seek redress or to complain about the violation of their rights.¹⁰ At the same time, children have a right to be empowered to contribute to and participate in justice systems, and across all areas of their lives.

However, children do not consistently experience the justice to which they have a right. Under COVID-19, this gap is widening.'

Justice for Children – the Call to Action, 2019, p. 4.

The justice gap

'Children and their specific requirements are often hidden or made invisible by the adults around them. Due to their dependence on others, they often face challenges in accessing their full range of rights and fulfil their needs.

With 30.9% of the global population estimated to be under age 18,¹¹ children and young people account for a huge proportion of our population. Our success in the delivery of the global goals that relate to all ages - will therefore heavily rely on responding effectively and robustly to the distinct needs and rights of children.

Responding effectively to this dimension of inequality will be the only way to ensure in the Agenda 2030 that we *leave no child behind*.'

Justice for Children – the Call to Action, 2019, p. 4.

Justice as prevention

'Children can come into contact with the law and justice systems as victims, as witnesses, and when accused of an offence, as an interested party or because intervention is required for their care, protection, health and wellbeing.

They require child-friendly and gender-sensitive justice systems that are specialised, meet their needs and ensure access to justice when their rights are violated. This is of greatest importance where children are unheard and for those who experience profound and sustained injustice.

Most importantly, children benefit from justice systems when these are focussed not only on resolution, but on prevention and protection. With justice as prevention, there is greater scope for investment that delivers outcomes that matter to communities and societies, such as fewer and less serious disputes, lowered risk of violence in all its forms, and lowered risk of rights abuses.

Prevention provides the platform for human development, impacting areas such as health, education and social protection, which play a pivotal role in delivering better outcomes for children.'12

Justice for Children – the Call to Action, 2019, p. 4.

The Pathfinders for Justice

The Pathfinders for Justice has gathered data on the justice gap and the evidence needed for implementation. It is committed to supporting action in all countries and to demonstrating measurable progress.

The Justice for All Report highlights that justice is a thread across all the 17 Sustainable Development Goals. Without justice 'the world will not be able to end poverty, reduce inequality, reach the furthest behind first, create conditions for shared and sustainable prosperity, or promote peace and inclusion.' ¹³

The Task Force on Justice urges all countries, and partners from all sectors, to join together in standing up for justice and to work together to prevent and resolve justice problems, while using justice systems to help people, communities, and societies to fulfil their potential.

The Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies is working with an alliance of justice partners to explore how people-centred justice can help societies manage the fallout from the pandemic and build more just societies for the future.

The Justice for Children Call to Action identified Ten Challenges prior to the COVID-19 pandemic that need urgent attention, and deliberately focussed responses at international, national and local level. These encompass prevention efforts; the urgent challenges; and the foundations required to drive and sustain change.

The Ten Challenges

- A. Promote justice as an enabler of children's development
 - 1. Guarantee the wellbeing and inclusion of all children.
 - 2. Promote justice systems, whether formal or legally plural, that guarantee equal access, benefit, protection and support to children.
 - 3. Prevent unnecessary contact with the justice system and the criminalisation of children.
 - 4. Ensure the right to a legal identity for all children.
- B. Accelerate action to respond to the urgent and critical challenges
 - 5. Prevent all forms of violence against children.
 - 6. Safeguard the rights of children who have been recruited, used by or associated with armed, violent extremist and other criminal groups, or who have been accused of national security-related offenses.
 - 7. Eliminate arbitrary and unlawful detention and restrict the deprivation of children's liberty to exceptional circumstances.
- C. Establish and sustain the foundations for change
 - 8. Promote and ensure the empowerment and participation of children in all decisions that affect their lives.
 - 9. Secure sustained political commitment to accelerate the achievement of high-quality justice for children.
 - 10. Ensure responses are based on international standards and evidence-based policies.

Justice for Children – the Call to Action, 2019, p. 6 – 7.

2. THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON CHILDREN'S WELL-BEING

The pandemic has rekindled or redirected common justice problems¹⁴ for people at individual and structural levels. While children are also directly or indirectly affected by these common problems, there are priority issues for children as a result of the pandemic which impact on their well-being. These include not being able to socialise, to go to school, to access public services or to be safe.

Concerns about children's well-being have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 crisis with new concerns emerging. These result from the health impacts, as well as from prevention and control measures to contain COVID-19,¹⁵ with children at all stages of the crisis particularly vulnerable. It is unfortunately the case that crises increase children's risk to neglect and exploitation and other types of harm¹⁶ such as violence at home, institutional or structural violence, and risky survival activities.¹⁷

In addition, children are experiencing sudden and increased poverty, loss of education, poor physical and mental health, pressures on their families, new and existing vulnerabilities and social restrictions. Not helping children or supporting and involving children as actors for change can propel them into the justice system, whether as victims or potential offenders. Even though they are victims, these children often end up stigmatised, perceived as a threat, and, at times, are subject to deprivation of liberty. 19

Children who are socially excluded or facing particular adversities, such as marginalised children, children from poor families, children from ethnic and minority groups, children with disabilities or special needs, children on the move or children in institutions or in conflict with the law, are often the first to see their well-being affected. As a result, they are at greater risk of not seeing their rights fulfilled in crisis situations. They can be isolated from other children, and sometimes from their parents, siblings and other family members and may need tailored support at different levels.²⁰

Strategic thinking at all levels of decision-making needs to bring children's human rights and well-being more centrally to the fore throughout the COVID-19 crisis, and beyond.²¹

Two international surveys²² were consulted in order to better capture children's views for this report on the impact of the pandemic on their well-being. As the surveys are based on convenience (volunteer) sampling and at a specific point in the pandemic, and while these findings will not be representative of the full impact of COVID-19 on children, their views are nonetheless highly instructive to decision-makers at all levels. Continuing to collect the views of wider groups of children will be important to better understand the impact that the coronavirus has had on children in the short, medium and long term.²³

In contrast to the negative impacts of COVID-19, the pandemic has also generated new thinking and a positive momentum for change and improved justice in its broadest sense. The crisis has also increased the need for interventions - new ones but also evidenced-based interventions from pre-pandemic that have been proven relevant to improve children's well-being. Also, new promising practices have emerged. These responses are fundamental to building back better at different stages of the pandemic. Examples are highlighted in this section.

The following sub-sections give critical insights into how the pandemic has affected children's mental and physical health and psychosocial well-being on many levels. Since the current evolving literature on COVID-19 is extensive and does not focus solely on children's well-being, evidence of impacts in four areas are considered:

- Impacts on children's inequalities;
- Impacts on the child as an individual;
- Impacts on children, their family and communities;
- Impacts on children's access to public services.

2.1. Impact on economic justice: Higher levels of inequalities

Rise in child poverty rates

Since the beginning of the pandemic, the situation of many children has worsened with parents losing their jobs and family income.²⁴ There has been a significant increase in child poverty²⁵ which has caused financial stress for families and pushed many households into deeper or new poverty. A UNICEF/Save the Children report states that an understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on child poverty has to be multidimensional and take into account the barriers that hinder children's ability to access health, education, nutrition, water and sanitation and housing services.²⁶

Forecasts for low- and middle-income countries suggest an additional 62.8 to 86 million children were likely to live in poverty by the end of 2020.²⁷ This increase will have immediate and long-term impacts on the well-being of children with implications across a range of areas including children's education and their emotional development and behaviour.²⁸ In addition, poor children are more likely to be at risk of social exclusion,²⁹ of seeing inequalities reinforced and of being subjected to many forms of violence. During the pandemic, child marriage, child labour, sexual exploitation of children and child trafficking have all increased, as has the recruitment of children into criminal, armed, violent and extremist groups, domestic and institutional violence,³⁰ and children being separated from their families and ending up in the street.³¹

Support to children cannot be dissociated from support to families including assistance to ensure parents' access to employment and a decent standard of living.³² Many countries and communities reacted immediately at the beginning of the pandemic and put in place practices to reduce or combat poverty and impoverishment of children. This ranged from food aid and income support, provision of digital equipment and devices to help children follow classes online, to psychological counselling and play resources.

There are examples of country-responses during the COVID-19 period to mitigate the loss of household income and ensure housing solutions for families in financial difficulty. Several countries (including the Slovak Republic and the United Kingdom) introduced temporary deferrals of mortgage payments, or temporarily suspended foreclosures (e.g., in the United States) or evictions (e.g. in France, Spain and some Canadian regions and municipalities). Other measures include temporarily reducing rent payments (e.g. Greece) or postponing utility payments (e.g. Japan). Some countries have also introduced measures to support the homeless, who are particularly vulnerable to the spread of COVID-19 (e.g. France has requisitioned hotel rooms to be used by the homeless during containment).³³

In Finland, the city of Oulo worked closely with UNICEF Finland to establish a list of good practices in many areas (early education, student counselling, youth work, services for disabled children).³⁴

Impact on adequate standard of living

COVID-19 has disrupted access to services and goods that enable the child to have an adequate standard of living. The #COVIDUnder19 survey³⁵ found that some groups of children had difficulties in having access to clean drinking water. In the survey, 15% of asylum-seeking children, 9% of children from migrant communities and 8% of children from ethnic minority communities said they had access to less clean drinking water than previously.

In addition to the children already facing adversities who have seen their access to water, sanitation and hygiene further restricted, the closure of schools has resulted in many children being deprived of WASH services. ³⁶ A UNICEF study of 60 countries identified as having the highest risk of health and humanitarian crisis due to COVID-19, found that half of schools did not have basic water and sanitation, with three out of four lacking handwashing facilities at the beginning of the public health crisis. UNICEF calls for progress in countries with lowest coverage of WASH facilities to ensure safety in schools during COVID-19 and for the future. ³⁷

"I can tell the government to help us with clean and safe drinking water." (Girl, 17, Zambia) #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 17.

"We know we have to wash our hands but water is very scarce here. Therefore, it is very difficult for us to get enough water and soap to wash our hands and protect ourselves from the virus. On behalf of the children in my village, I would like to say please bring us clean water and soaps so we keep clean and protect ourselves from this virus. I wish the virus would just go away so school opens again. I want to learn and become an engineer someday, support my family." (Boy, 12, 4th grade student in the Somali region in Ethiopia)³⁸

Restricted access to food and nutrition

Accessing food and nutrition has been more difficult during the pandemic. Food items became expensive and were often scarce in shops and markets.³⁹ COVID-19 also impacted on the feeding of infants and young children. A Save the Children study found that mothers feared that their baby would get infected from breastfeeding and feared being separated from their baby if they became infected.⁴⁰ School closures have also had an impact on children's access to food with no school lunches available where these would usually be provided.

"I would like to go to school, then I will be able to have food for lunch." (Girl, 14 India) #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 16.

"I wish there were more help available for families going hungry. People can't go out and work and the situation is desperate. Children don't know how to wait. They only know they're hungry" (Girl, 9, Bolivia) #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 6.

In a report from September 2020, the Committee on World Food Security affirms that to address hunger and malnutrition in the pandemic "income assistance, vouchers for household food purchases, renter eviction protections, housing assistance, and school lunch programmes have all been shown to be effective means of support in some social contexts."⁴¹

In many countries, programmes were put in place to raise awareness and learn the techniques on how to grow food. For example, in the US, non-profits and families of low-income communities are growing food on their own property or are using vacant lots or land on school or church grounds.⁴²

Impact on children facing adversities pre-pandemic

COVID-19 has caused considerable disruption in the lives of children who were already facing adversities pre-pandemic, including girls, children from ethnic and minority groups, children with disabilities or special needs, children in migration, children without parental care, and children deprived of their liberty.

- **Girls suffering from gender inequalities.** Save the Children indicates that progress on gender is at risk due to COVID-19.⁴³ As a result of school closures, lockdown and disrupted (maternal) health care, more girls are at risk of gender-based violence including domestic abuse, forced marriage or unwanted adolescent pregnancies, not returning to school or falling into extreme poverty.⁴⁴ According to UNICEF, staying at home has affected gender equality with girls rather than boys tending to carry out most of the household tasks, childcare and care for sick relatives.⁴⁵
- Children from ethnic and minority groups and children of colour appear to be disproportionately impacted by COVID-19.⁴⁶ While they suffer health inequalities and are more at risk of diseases and death,⁴⁷ they are also more affected by loss of family income, learning loss or housing insecurity.⁴⁸

"I would urge the government to do more for the Roma Ashkali and Egyptian communities because we are in an even more difficult economic and social situation. The pandemic has aggravated our economic situation even more as family members have lost their jobs." (Girl, 11, Albania) #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 16.

• Children with disabilities and special needs may need special support or additional help to adapt to the many changes and to understand how to protect themselves. ⁴⁹ Children may have underlying health conditions that increase their risk of serious complications from COVID-19. ⁵⁰ The closure of schools has resulted in a loss of learning, and disrupted access to health care and therapeutic support at a time when children with disabilities and their families are adjusting to major changes in daily life. The changes are particularly disruptive to children who thrive on structure and routine.

UNICEF (ECARO) is supporting Ministries of Education in many countries in Europe and Central Asia. It has introduced distance learning in at least 16 countries, working specifically with marginalised groups – for example, working with Roma minority children and children with disabilities in Bulgaria and Montenegro, non-formal education to refugee and migrant children and families in Greece, and tools for children with disabilities and ethnic minorities in Kyrgyzstan and Uzbekistan. ⁵¹

Children without parental care. COVID-19 presents significant challenges for children in out-of-home care and for the alternative care system in general. Additional pressure may arise for children in care settings (family-based foster care or residential care) due to, for example, learning difficulties, disrupted face-to-face contact with birth families, reduced functioning of centres, problems in the availability of placements and a lack in capacity of service providers to adequately meet the additional care needs of the children.⁵²

- Children in migration. While this group of children, irrespective of their migration status, generally face severe deprivation in terms of access to school, health care, clean water and protection services, it is clear that the virus threatens to exacerbate their already precarious existence and bring more uncertainty and potential damage to their lives. There is only limited data on the impact of COVID-19 on migrant and displaced children and their families, but they may have limited access to public health services, or fear that they will not have access to provision. They may also be excluded from public information programmes or lack the decent living conditions or financial means to manage periods of self-isolation or quarantine or to seek physical or mental health care.⁵³
- Children who live and work on the streets are particularly vulnerable to unrealised rights and are seeing their access to services such as health, sanitation and justice reduced. They often already lack legal status, are at greater risk of violence and abuse and suffer mental issues.⁵⁴

In India, an organisation working with children in street situations trains children on how to inform their peers and how to identify their needs and vulnerabilities. Once trained, the peer leaders visit communities and provide other children with training in hygiene and how to reach out for support if they are victims of violence. The peer leaders conducted a survey during the onset of pandemic, which provided information on the mental health conditions of children in street situations and on instances of abuse occurring due to the lockdown.⁵⁵

• Children deprived of their liberty, "who often have compromised psychosocial, physical and mental health issues, live in crowded or unhygienic conditions and are more vulnerable to abuse and neglect." Those in locked facilities, including those detained with their parents or caregivers, those in immigration detention and those detained on national security grounds, are at greater risk of contracting and spreading the disease. Measures imposed to control the spread of the virus and its societal impacts are also likely to negatively affect their well-being and healthy development, including adequate care while detained, and family and community support. 57

Increase in the digital divide

The crisis has reinforced digital inequalities that already existed. The increased use of computers and the internet, which enable home working, online learning and maintaining online contact, has highlighted the gap between people and specifically children. These inequalities exist across all regions and countries, with differing access to devices, broadband, knowledge and skills reflected among populations.

Radically unequal access to the internet between children among differently positioned children is an issue that has been exacerbated during the pandemic. Disparities in access to technology and devices needed to ensure online learning have been widely evidenced.⁵⁸ The gap in digital access between groups of children and across socioeconomic status has had a massive impact on children's access to education, social communication, access to information, to justice and other services.⁵⁹ These inequalities have increased for specific groups such as children in migration or detention, for whom access to the internet may be even more limited or non-existent.

"Seeing that I live in a rural community where it is hard to access internet. It is a challenge to learn online". (Girl, 17, Zambia)

#COVIDUnder19 report, p. 11.

In Portugal, the non-profit organisation Lisbon Project by River Side⁶⁰ - that aims to protect and integrate the lives of migrants and refugees in the city of Lisbon - received a donation of computers from an international private school in order to ensure that more assisted migrant children have access to virtual classroom learning. They quoted on their social media that "one computer can make a significant difference in a child's education and also to their families."

In the #COVIDUnder19 report, certain groups of children disproportionately lacked access to basic internet sources. 62% of children who replied to the survey who lived in detention centres, refugee camps and homeless centres said they had no access or hardly any access to the internet. Children identifying as migrants and asylum seekers also had particularly poor digital access. #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 11.

1.2. Impact on social justice: the well-being of the child as an individual

Emergency restrictions used to prevent and control the spread of disease imposed by national governments have had a major impact on children's lives. In different phases and depending on the country, national and local restrictions have required children and their families to stay at home, interrupted their schooling, required social distancing and restricted walking and playing in public spaces and outdoors. In addition, 'non-essential' services have been closed and essential services, such as children's services, have been limited to online support. These political responses to COVID-19 have resulted in many children experiencing negative feelings and affected their mental and physical health and well-being⁶¹ and access to their human rights to education, health, play, culture and leisure.⁶² Access to, and utilisation of, children's mental health support and services has never been more necessary.⁶³

Negative effects of restrictions

As a result of measures imposed at population level, some children have become isolated, lonely and cut off from their friends and other family members. In the early stages of the pandemic, time spent at home had positive effects for some children because they were able to take refuge from external pressures such as school and peer relationships.⁶⁴ Those children reported that they were surrounded at home by family members and were able to relax or learn new hobbies.⁶⁵ These positive effects did not necessarily exist for the majority of children and are likely to have disappeared or diminished as restrictions continued with many children finding themselves socially isolated.⁶⁶

"I've been locked in the house for over two months now. It's just my mum going in and out every day. And I am not always chatting to my friends. I think it has affected a lot of young people's mental health in this time because we can't really go out and socialise, give each other hugs, and give people support." (Girl, 15, UK) World Vision Report, p. 10

It is accepted that the stress and uncertainty associated with COVID-19 has potentially had significant negative effects on children's mental health⁶⁷ including an increase in negative feelings⁶⁸ such as anxiety, stress, sadness and fear, changes to sleep patterns and appetite, as well as an increase in more challenging behaviour for some children.⁶⁹

"Now, more than ever, teenagers are suffering from anxiety. We have to do too much work for school. My eyebrows began to fall off because I'm so worried I won't pass my course. There are many who think about suicide... some demand too much from us... I have no internet connection and can't talk to my friends, that makes me feel very depressed... I feel bad not being able to see my family and friends." (Girl, 14, Costa Rica) #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 2.

Restrictions on face-to-face contacts, school attendance and opportunities for play, leisure and physical activity have had an impact on children's participation in the wider peer community. Children have suffered from not meeting their friends, family members who do not live in their homes and supportive adults, such as teachers, social workers and club/activity leaders, who have an awareness of individual children's well-being. The time spent at home has forced them to online learning and in general to maintain, when possible, online social relationships, leading to loneliness as the main result, which can be defined as a lack of desired and perceived social relationships.⁷⁰ It is suggested that it is of utmost importance to support alternative ways of encouraging children's relationships including facilitating access to play and leisure and exploring innovative solutions in terms of offline activities.⁷¹

Impact on children facing serious adversities pre-pandemic

Groups of children, such as children in the justice system, children in out-of-home care, children with health problems or disabilities, those identifying as LGBTQ+,⁷² who were already facing serious and complex adversities prior to the pandemic, have reported higher anxiety and depression scores, and lower levels of well-being than before the pandemic.⁷³ Reduced well-being in children has had an associated significant impact on their inclusion. Particularly vulnerable groups of children have suffered from exacerbated effects such as feeling unsafe.

In a study led by Save the Children in 46 countries with data from over 13,000 child responses on the hidden impact of COVID-19 on child protection and well-being, it appeared that: "children with disabilities were more than three times more likely to show an increase in bed-wetting (7%), and unusual crying and screaming (17%) since the outbreak of COVID-19, than children without disabilities (2% and 5% respectively)."⁷⁴

The #COVIDUnder19 survey found that: "almost one-quarter of migrant children (24%) and those living in a detention centre, refugee camp or homeless centre (23%) felt less safe at home/ where they lived, and 22% of children who were seeking asylum felt less safe at home/ where they lived."⁷⁵

In Uganda, a local organisation (Loving Hands Children and Women Organisation) has helped children deal with mental health challenges created by isolation and domestic violence at home. Through a peer-to-peer mentoring programme, it has helped resolve cases of anxiety in children and in girls worried about gender stereotypes and their education.⁷⁶

In the Netherlands, the city of Rotterdam supported the release of an app ('Grow-It') with the Erasmus Medical Centre in order to let children and young people play a game designed to strengthen resilience and stress-coping strategies and monitor their mental health and situation at home.⁷⁷

Increased need for physical activity

The World Health Organisation (WHO) recommends that children aged 3-17 years old should participate in at least sixty minutes of moderate- to vigorous-intensity physical activity daily.⁷⁸ Emergency measures have seriously impacted on children's and adolescents' opportunities and willingness to exercise and take part in physical activities⁷⁹ with restrictions on outdoor activities, closure of schools and parks and the cancellation of youth sports, clubs and activity classes.

Evidence about the physical behaviours of children and adolescents shows differences across countries. This may be related to country-wide factors such as different policy restrictions and the number of COVID-19 infections and because physical activities such as non-organised sports, habitual physical activity and

sexual activity are often context driven. Activities may have increased in some cases and decreased in others, with the associated impacts on children's health, 80 recognising that the ability to engage in physical activity can mediate stress and promote well-being.

Toolkits and material have been published online to help motivate children, young people and adults to keep moving. Examples include yoga and keep fit classes, dance routines, resources to play inside and video/movie making. In Africa, adolescents have created videos of the Jerusalema dance, to raise awareness about the climate change emergency, and to call on children and young people to protect the environment. ⁸¹Other activities, like walking, cycling, gardening or playing outside have increased, depending on place and context. ⁸²

Increased physical health problems

Children's physical health has been impacted by COVID-19. Several studies indicate that many children have suffered from symptoms related to COVID-19 and some are at serious risk of disease.⁸³ Research from the UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre suggests that the risks largely depend on where children live and how vulnerable they are to disease and ill health. It states that this is: "evidenced by the higher proportion of COVID-19 cases among the under-20s in low- and middle-income countries: around 11 per cent of the national caseload, compared with 7 per cent in high-income countries. This figure varies widely across countries, from 23 per cent of the national COVID-19 caseload in Paraguay to 0.82 per cent in Spain."⁸⁴

With COVID-19 putting enormous pressure on already weak or overstretched health systems, the number of children who are unvaccinated and under vaccinated from other diseases is expected to increase. This threatens to exacerbate ongoing measles epidemics or new HIV infections as well as add to inequalities and put the lives of many children at serious risk of disease or death.⁸⁵ In addition, according to a study covering 118 low- and middle-income countries undertaken by the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, "an additional 2 million under-five deaths could occur in twelve months due to reductions in routine health service coverage levels and an increase in child wasting."⁸⁶

Efforts to mitigate the transmission of COVID-19 are disrupting food systems, upending health and nutrition services, devastating livelihoods, and threatening food security. More children, already experiencing vulnerabilities prior to the pandemic, are becoming malnourished due to the deteriorating quality of their diets and the multiple shocks created by the pandemic and its containment measures.⁸⁷

Finally, children in confined and overcrowded spaces such as camps, slums, institutions or detention facilities are at heightened risk of contracting COVID-19. The children often have inadequate access to clean water and sanitation, nutrition and medical care. These conditions are highly conducive to the spread of diseases like COVID-19.88 Moreover, children in detention are likely to have poorer baseline health.89

Of the children who responded to the #COVIDUnder19 survey:

- 20% of all children said they had less food since coronavirus with 65% saying this had not changed.
- 23% of 8-10 year olds reported they had less food compared to 17% of 13-17 year olds.
- 19% of children who were living at home reported they had less food compared to 9% of those living in residential care.
- 38% of children from the migrant community said they had less food since coronavirus while 48% said this remained the same as before.

- 40% of asylum-seeking children said they had less food since coronavirus; 44% said they had the same as before.
- 24% of children who identified as having a disability said they had less food since coronavirus compared to 18% of children without disabilities.

#COVIDUnder19 report, p. 15.

While these numbers are not generalisable to the general population of children, they nevertheless offer a glimpse into the impact of COVID-19 on some children around the world.

2.3. Impact on social justice: the well-being of families and communities

Higher levels of family stress

The COVID-19 pandemic and related measures have increased stress levels for adults and disrupted the daily lives of families. Increased workloads, long hours behind the screen, difficulties in going to work, managing household chores and helping children with school at home have meant that many parents have become more anxious, critical and irritated. This has resulted in parental 'burnout' as well as higher stress in single-parent families and greater anxiety and conflict for separated parents around shared parental arrangements. This has created anxiety and emotional insecurity for children. Among parents who have found life more difficult in confined situations, children's psychological distress was higher, and children had more emotional and behavioural problems.

In addition to the already established helplines for parents and children, some countries have created additional helplines for parents, adolescents and children impacted by COVID-19 effects. For example, in the Republic of Macedonia, the UNICEF Office collaborated with the Ministry of Health and with the University Clinic of Psychiatry to provide extra mental health and psychosocial support to adolescents and their parents and parents of children with disabilities impacted by the crisis. ⁹⁴

Increased risks of violence, exploitation and abuse

The media and children's organisations have highlighted an increase in the number of children exposed to domestic abuse. This has included acts of violence, neglect, and challenges to children's physical and mental health.⁹⁵ There has been an increase in the number of children in vulnerable situations, especially those who were not seen to be at risk in the pre-pandemic period.⁹⁶ Maintaining the systems that ensure children's protection has become increasingly challenging. Areas of child protection concerns which have been exacerbated by the impact of COVID-19 along with domestic abuse include online exploitation⁹⁷ and sexual exploitation.⁹⁸ Overall, maintaining the systems that ensure children's protection has become increasingly challenging.

A Save the Children study on the hidden impact of COVID-19 on child protection and well-being, undertaken in 46 countries with data from over 13,000 child responses (11-17 year olds), found that: "Nearly one-third (32%) of the households had a child and/or parent/caregiver reporting that violence had occurred in the home, including children and/or adults being verbally or physically abused. Just over three quarters of the children (77%) reported that they knew methods to keep themselves safe online, including information they should and should not share and/or how to change whom they share content with." ⁹⁹

Such trends in child maltreatment have significant immediate and long-term consequences for children's mental health and psychosocial well-being. Beyond physical injury, disability and death, violence can cause stress that hinders brain development and damages the nervous and immune systems. This stress is in turn associated with delayed cognitive development, poor school performance and dropouts, mental health problems, suicide attempts, increased health risk behaviours, revictimisation and the perpetration of violence.¹⁰⁰

"Father stays at home and every time he beats us for some reason or the other. No one in the family has any work. When there is food shortage, we all including my mother gets bitten by my father." (Boy, 12 India) #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 16.

Cases of abuse have taken place in a domestic environment under the care of parents and other family members, but they also have had an impact on children who are exposed to violence outside the home in these times of COVID-19. This is especially true for children who are deprived of their liberties or who are living on the street, in institutions, associated with armed forces or groups, engaged in child labour or living in situations of conflict and fragility as well as refugee, internally displaced, migrant and stateless children. For example, children placed in institutions or detention facilities are more vulnerable to neglect, abuse and violence, including gender-based violence (GBV), especially when the presence of educational or supervisory staff or care are negatively impacted by the pandemic or containment measures. In the part of the part of the pandemic or containment measures.

Many children have turned to digital solutions to learn, socialise and play during COVID-19 with a resulting increased exposure to risk. The prevalence of online sexual exploitation of children has increased as a result of COVID-19. Children's increased use of the internet, often unsupervised, has enabled perpetrators of abuse, resulting from children's increased emotional vulnerability and isolation, and disruptions to reporting services. Descriptions

"In case of quarrels or violence in the family I cannot ask for help because they cannot help me to go in another place. This is an issue, all the people are in quarantine. Many emergency phone numbers for certain issues are not working at the moment, or you keep calling and nobody answers." (Girl, 10, Moldova)

#COVIDUnder19 report, p. 6.

Children taking action in their communities

"In Brazil, children and adolescents have participated in virtual gatherings to discuss issues related to physical and psychological violence, and collectively suggest strategies to prevent violence. They are producing podcasts and videos to encourage other children to exercise preventive and safety measures in their day-to-day lives." ¹⁰⁶

"In Sierra Leone, youth leaders are receiving training on mental health, psychological first aid and violence reporting. They return to their communities with the goal of helping other children." (Restless Development Sierra Leone)¹⁰⁷

Children expressing themselves through arts and other means

"In India, one group organised a poster-making competition to encourage children to describe the different forms of domestic violence, how to recognize it and how to act against it. The winning posters were then used to raise awareness among the wider population." ¹⁰⁸

"Over 150 children from different regions participated in a virtual exhibition through an interactive website featuring what children had to say about how COVID-19 had affected their lives. This included paintings, videos, articles, audio clips and recommendations on moving forward. Over 3,000 adolescents in 15 States and areas¹⁰⁹ documented their experience of the pandemic to create a time capsule. Adult leaders of the initiative have seen how drama and documenting children's experience of the pandemic have given children a sense of belonging and a connection with adolescents living in other countries." ¹¹⁰

2.4. Impact on social justice: COVID-19 and the response of public services

The pandemic has caused massive disruption to universal services such as education, health care, a well-functioning child protection system, ¹¹¹ and a justice system that allows litigants to seek redress or complain about the violation of their rights.

Impact on schools and education

The pandemic has had the effect of exacerbating existing inequalities in education. This depends on many factors, such as the child's age, the ability to learn online, the child's socioeconomic status, the child's level of education and measures imposed on schools and education services. At the height of the initial lockdowns, one third of the world's schoolchildren were unable to access remote learning, and school closures affected almost 90 per cent of students around the world. 113

"One thing I have been finding difficult, and I know a lot of other children have [as well], is the transition from face-to-face learning, [i.e.] learning in a classroom, to learning online. Some of the schools don't enforce online learning. Some teachers don't set any work because they have a family to look after or they are finding the transition hard." (Girl, 17, UK) World Vision Report, p. 9.

While children from disadvantaged backgrounds,¹¹⁴ on the move, or in detention are less likely to have the capacity to switch to remote learning due to access to resources and a good learning environment, younger children or children with disabilities find it more difficult to concentrate in front of a computer.¹¹⁵ In countries that closed schools, many education providers took action to mitigate the negative impact by scaling up options for distance learning. This has included the use of televised lessons and digital platforms. There have been initiatives to ensure that educators can still report and follow up on cases of violence, including cyberbullying.¹¹⁶ In addition, educators and school premises – especially when the school is closed to students - can also play an important role in the public health response and act as agents of public health emergency management.¹¹⁷

While some are still sceptical about the unplanned and rapid move to online learning, others have found it an excellent opportunity to change approaches and models and believe that a new hybrid model will emerge. 118

Many online platforms have responded by offering free access to their services with the resulting increase in the number of students using resources. This has been the case for an Indian highly valued edtech company.¹¹⁹

Partnerships between schools and the media have been established to encourage virtual learning for children¹²⁰ and provide resources such as radio-based educational broadcasts.¹²¹

In Cameroon, girls are being trained to become community leaders, so that they, in turn, can reach out to out-of-school children, who are among the most marginalised. 122

"I like the online lessons; I have problems with anxiety, so being able to turn off my microphone and/or camera sometimes makes me feel much safer and makes it easier for me to pay attention...Personally, I've found that less extra murals and not having to spend time travelling leave me more time for hobbies and sleep." (Girl, 15, South Africa) #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 2.

Schools are not solely about learning; they are also an important part of communities because of the relationships between children and supportive adults. In addition to this they are also part of the response to tackling children's deficits in access to WASH services and to food.

"I wish I could go to school, but our school is closed and I feel sad and upset that I cannot go to school. I miss my friends in school. When we were in school, we used to play different games with my friends. I often think of them. Before the coronavirus, the school fed us meals each school day, but now the school feeding program has stopped. I hope it will start again soon. Schools are closed but the mobile reading camp still comes to our village once a week. The librarian lends us storybooks that we can take home to read. I borrow different storybooks from the reading camp. I find it fun reading stories to my family at home. It also helps me improve my reading skills." (Boy, 12, Ethiopia)¹²³

In South Africa there was a fair amount of child rights specific litigation¹²⁴ during the COVID-19 pandemic, relating to the right to nutrition and education including reinstatement of the national school feeding scheme, in relation to the re-opening and subsidisation of Early Childhood Development centres, and regarding processes for the return to school for children with disabilities. These cases were largely successful.

Restricted access to healthcare

Access to all healthcare services has decreased, particularly during intense periods of COVID-19 restrictions. Additional barriers have included increased health care costs, reduced household incomes and increased difficulties in physically reaching health care facilities with long queues, and medical centres and pharmacies running out of medicines. For some, the fear of being infected and stigmatised has aggravated the situation. 125

25% of children with experience of Covid-19 and 21% of children with no experience of Covid-19 said that since Coronavirus began, they were now less able to access medical help. #COVIDUnder19 report, p. 8.

"They should pay more attention to children now especially the ones going back to school. Some children can't afford to buy face masks which is bad. The government should provide face masks and other things to ensure children's safety during this time of coronavirus. Face masks on the market are for adults and few being tailored are for children." (Girl, 15, Zambia) #COVIDUnder19, p. 5.

Increased need for mental health services

The crisis has increased the need for mental health support and services with an increase in calls reporting concerns for children's safety and well-being to helplines. Some children have been seeking support, sometimes for the first time, when usually they would have been able to rely on supportive adults such as teachers, youth workers, club and community leaders, and friends. On a positive note, some recent UK research showed that children who had not experienced mental health challenges prior to the pandemic, and who were struggling during the public health restrictions, bounced back once they were able to return to school.

Children who were already facing adversities, whether or not they had already been receiving support from one or more services, may have developed additional family support and/or protection needs. Identifying children's mental health and well-being needs as public health restrictions are reduced, will be essential, in order to provide support for the child's individualised needs even where temporarily limited to online contacts. ¹²⁹

In the UK, in Leeds, an online service was set up for children to receive psychological counselling or simply to chat with someone. ¹³⁰

In Italy, Milan works extensively to provide early childhood services (serving 33,000 children), having created 70 digital platforms for personal support, with suggestions tailored for each child by their educator or teacher.¹³¹

Support to families

Support to parents and children is needed both as prevention and response measures, for example in the case of parental stress over parental custody disputes; anxiety due to daily pressures; or due to changes in routines due to physical or social distancing. As a result of COVID-19 there has been significantly higher reporting of separation of children from their parents or caregivers, and violence in the home.¹³²

Across the globe, numerous initiatives were taken to support families through helplines or by email.

In Germany, the city of Leipzig set up a phone hotline for parents. In Spain, 15 guides were published by the city of Madrid to help families cope with a range of issues including emotional support for children, family coexistence during confinement, family grief, and violence prevention. In Slovenia, Ljubljana's kindergartens offered online counselling to families; city services did so for both parents and children by telephone or email. 133

Online toolkits are also available to help parents, caregivers or other adults to cope with the situation.

In the U.S. the public service for Disease control and Prevention published a COVID-19 Parental Resource Kit: Ensuring Children and Young People's Social, Emotional, and Mental Well-being; another similar initiative delivers tips on positive parenting during COVID-19. 135

2.5. Impact on criminal, civil and administrative justice: COVID-19 and justice system responses

COVID-19 has changed and disrupted children's access to justice and justice service provision. Given the particular and complex adversities of these children, and the impact of public health restrictions on these children's lives, access to the justice system and the mechanisms for claiming and redressing human rights are more important than ever. The direct or indirect effects of COVID-19 have strengthened vulnerabilities and widened inequalities among children in contact with the law. In order to fully meet the needs, rights and well-being of children in contact with the justice system, effective justice responses and services need to be accessible and available. This has been a particular challenge in the current emergency situation. 136

Reduced and limited functioning of formal justice systems

Children face challenges in accessing justice when coming into contact with the justice system, whether in administrative proceedings, or as victims, witnesses or offenders, in both criminal and civil disputes.¹³⁷

There is evidence of children experiencing curtailed access to, and reduced functioning of, justice systems arising from COVID-19. These are due to resources being diverted away from formal justice systems towards more immediate COVID-19 public health measures.¹³⁸ Services such as hotlines, crisis centres, shelters, legal aid and social services have been at risk of being scaled back due to pandemic emergency responses and social distancing requirements in the light of COVID-19.¹³⁹ This has contributed to cancellations, delays in, and extended length of court proceedings. These delays are a particular and serious concern for children on remand for criminal offences, who are accused, in detention, but who have not yet had their case heard in court. Children in detention can also be required to spend long hours, sometimes up to 23 hours a day, in isolation to comply with social distancing restrictions.

Other important concerns include limited access to lawyers or representatives, online hearings which have been taking place only exceptionally during periods of confinement and other restrictive measures. Communications from the Secretariat of the Council of Europe revealed that in a number of European countries "when [child protection hearings] did take place, they often took place online and from the child's home, making it difficult for service providers to assess whether parents are listening and/or influencing the child." Findings in Scotland indicate the challenges "range from material challenges, such as having appropriate equipment and internet access to participate and a safe place to participate that will protect the privacy and confidentiality of the proceeding, through to practical elements of enabling preparation for a Hearing, supporting active participation during the course of it, and aiding any need for clarification about what was discussed and decided in it."

In Albania, a decision from the High Judicial Council promoted the use of virtual courts to ensure remote and online hearings. Cases affecting children in contact with the law were allowed to continue, ensuring children's access to justice and "allowing many of those in pre-trial detention to have their 'arrest in jail' measure replaced with an 'arrest at home' order." 142

Information submitted by States Parties to the Lanzarote Convention¹⁴³ indicates that measures have been taken to ensure that access to justice for all children is maintained even in times of confinement, including for child victims of sexual exploitation and sexual abuse.¹⁴⁴ This has been done mainly by maintaining the possibility for child victims and their legal representatives to have access to the courts for hearings, trials and mediation, especially with regard to the most serious forms of sexual violence against children.

In Croatia, families that were known to social welfare centres because of the risks they posed to the safety of children were increasingly monitored. The teams at social welfare centres were responsible for contacting parents and monitoring the dynamics of family relations through daily monitoring by telephone or other means of telecommunication, and, if necessary, taking emergency measures to protect children in situations threatening their lives and safety.¹⁴⁵

Delays and cancellation of training of justice professionals

The impact is also evident on the quality of justice through delays in or cancellation of training of justice professionals. Even though these may be provided online, the skills to address, actively listen to and be understood by children can be more difficult to learn online. Moreover, some professionals lack motivation to train over online training sessions. ¹⁴⁶

Isolation and loss of family visits

Children deprived of their liberty under criminal or administrative proceedings are particularly at risk. Not only are they generally cut off from their communities, but they have also missed out visits from family members, friends and legal representatives. Restrictions due to COVID-19 have made social contacts, and access to education, mental health services and support more difficult for children in institutions and facilities. The Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights has stated that any restrictions to family visits and outside contact should be mitigated by alternative arrangements, including extended access to phone or video communications.¹⁴⁷

In Brazil, UNICEF collaborated with key justice sector agencies and initiated several actions, namely the production of social media cards and distribution to families of adolescents in conflict with the law to raise-awareness about their basic rights and allow them to stay in touch with their family members.¹⁴⁸

Alternatives to detention

Some concepts and approaches that were applicable before COVID-19 may no longer be so relevant and appropriate post-COVID-19, while others are more important than ever. Resistance to the use of alternatives to detention, face-to-face training as the predominant form of capacity building, and the operation of juvenile courts in person therefore appear limiting and outdated. Meanwhile, diversion, post-release support and social work for children within the justice sector, and the need for free child-friendly legal aid continue to be highly, if not more, relevant.

The current situation offers a unique opportunity for governments to release children and juveniles in custody or detention and prefer alternative measures to detention, including diverting children in conflict with the law away from judicial proceedings. ¹⁵¹ UNICEF (ECAR) reports that, in the Europe and Central Asia region it covers, as a result of nearly two decades of work in reforming juvenile justice systems, there is a scale up of community-based responses that serve as alternatives to detention and a significant decline in the rate and overall number of children in detention. In 2020, the number of children in detention had been reduced to 5,000, which is almost 90% less than calculated in 2000, when 45,000 children were in detention. ¹⁵²

Post-release planning and reintegration is vital for the children released from detention, and their families. It contributes to reducing the risk of reoffending, and to supporting children's well-being. While several countries, such as Morocco, Bangladesh and India, succeeded in providing quality services and support to the children and families served by their projects, others still face major challenges in implementing effective programmes for social reintegration of children.¹⁵³

Beyond litigation, the International Legal Foundation partners at PDS-Nepal subsequently did a series of radio rights education programs to reach communities about issues including juvenile justice despite the lockdown.¹⁵⁴

Customary and informal justice systems

While challenges which have arisen in formal justice systems during COVID-19 are easily identifiable, this is not the case for customary and informal justice systems. There is a paucity of literature and research on children in these informal justice systems in general and this is accentuated during the current crisis.

The main justice challenges identified regarding the rights of children in relation to informal justice systems are related to the respect of their procedural rights, including the right to be heard, the right to a fair and impartial hearing, and the right to protection from arbitrary, cruel or inhuman punishment. ¹⁵⁵ Children, who are often viewed as property under customary norms and traditional values, rather than as subjects of rights, may have their rights to participation disregarded and may not see their best interests taken into account in matters that affect them. ¹⁵⁶

A seminar held in September 2020 by the International Development Law Organization (IDLO) on women's access to justice highlights that "despite their perceived advantages, many customary and informal justice systems produce discriminatory and harmful outcomes for women and girls." ¹⁵⁷

Discrimination in legal identity or status

Legal identity remains of crucial importance during public health emergencies; individuals need to prove who they are to access public services and any other service they need. ¹⁵⁸ COVID-19 affects both birth and civil registration service delivery and the use of services. As families' demands for birth registration decline, the number of children without birth certificates is increasing rapidly. According to UNICEF, registration centres and service points are less available or inaccessible for reasons related to budget shortages, closure of services, backlogs in registration file management, reduced operating hours and staff presence. Some civil registration points have been insufficiently equipped to meet safety and hygiene requirements. Use of services has been affected because of fear of contamination or lack of transport, particularly in the remote areas. Use of health services has also declined. ¹⁵⁹

Children who lack proof of their identity, age or status or whose births are not registered are more vulnerable to marginalisation, abuse, and associated protection risks such as child marriage, child labour, forced recruitment to armed groups and forces, and trafficking. Without proof or registration, they are in acute need of access to justice.

While national birth and civil registration reforms have been postponed or put on hold in most countries with the COVID-19 pandemic, the focus on the modernization of civil registration systems towards digitisation is a continental priority and key to universal birth registration.¹⁶¹

3. CONCLUSION

This report has found that COVID-19 has had a significant impact on many children's lives around the globe, and importantly, many initiatives and interventions are relevant to addressing the impacts of COVID-19 on children's well-being. Responses that will contribute to building back better will need to take *all* children into account and engage them as actors of change. Examples of promising practice show how to put the child at the centre. This requires disaggregated data at international, national and local level so that all children can participate and be targeted by the actions.

Children must be at the heart of responses to COVID-19: their well-being needs to be at the forefront of strategic thinking in all levels of government and with their human rights protected throughout the stages of the epidemic. 162

Unless we direct our attention to children as a global community, and at national and local levels, we will fail in our ambition to leave no-one behind. Learning from past epidemics highlights that children and families' needs and well-being must be taken into account in the development of economic, social and health protective strategies across sectors and in collaboration with communities.

Not taking assertive action results in children experiencing damaging impacts which restricts their capacity to fulfil their potential, and compromises both children's and whole communities' post-epidemic recovery.

ENDNOTES

⁵ UNICEF calculation, UN Population Division statistics (2016): 30.9% of the global population is estimated to be under age 18, https://data.unicef.org/resources/state-worlds-children-2017-statistical-tables/.

⁶ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ Call to Action. Glasgow: CELCIS - Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde

⁷ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ Call to Action. Glasgow: CELCIS - Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde;

⁸ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ A Challenge Paper. Scotland: CELCIS-Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde;

⁹ https://hbr.org/2014/01/what-vuca-really-means-for-you.

¹⁰ Liefaard, T. (2019) Access to justice for children: towards a specific research and implementation agenda. The International Journal of Child Rights 27:2 https://brill.com/ view/journals/chil/27/2/article-p195_195.xml.

¹¹ UNICEF calculation, UN Population Division statistics, 2016 at https://data.unicef.org/resources/state-worlds-children-2017-statistical-tables/; World Bank, 2017: 26% of the global population under age 14, and 42% aged under 25.

¹² New York University, Center on International Cooperation. Challenge Paper: Justice as Prevention. Background paper for the Task Force on Justice. https://cic.nyu.edu/ challenge-paper-task-force-on-justice.

¹³ Justice for All (2019) Report of the Task Force on Justice https://www.justice.sdg16.plus/task-force-on-justice.

¹⁴ Pathfinders, Justice for All, final report, 2019, p. 64-66.

¹⁵ Elsley, S and Davidson, J, 'Protecting Children's Well-being in Response to COVID-19: Learning from Past Epidemics' (May 2020) Inspiring Children's Futures Learning Report Series 1/2020, p. 1.

¹⁶ Save the children, Understanding children's wellbeing, 2012.

¹⁷ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ A Challenge Paper. Scotland: CELCIS-Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde.

¹⁸ Elsley, S and Davidson, J, 'Protecting Children's Well-being in Response to COVID-19: Learning from Past Epidemics' (May 2020) Inspiring Children's Futures Learning Report Series 1/2020, p. 1.

¹⁹ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ A Challenge Paper. Scotland: CELCIS-Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde.

²⁰ Save the children, Understanding children's wellbeing, 2012; UNICEF, Protecting the most vulnerable children from the impact of coronavirus: An agenda for action, September 2020.

²¹ Elsley, S and Davidson, J, 'Protecting Children's Well-being in Response to COVID-19: Learning from Past Epidemics' (May 2020) Inspiring Children's Futures Learning Report Series 1/2020, p. 1.

²² The consultations have an international scope and involve children living in different countries: the #COVIDUnder19 survey, and the Children and Young People's Voices in Times of COVID-19 research study.

²³ OECD Centre on Well-being, Inclusion, Sustainability & Equal Opportunity (WISE), Securing the Recovery, Ambition, and Resilience for the Wellbeing of Children in the post-COVID-19 Decade, October 2020, 7.

²⁴ OECD Centre on Well-being, Inclusion, Sustainability & Equal Opportunity (WISE), Securing the Recovery, Ambition, and Resilience for the Wellbeing of Children in the post-COVID-19 Decade, October 2020.

²⁵ UNICEF/Save the Children, Impact of COVID-19 on multidimensional child poverty, September 2020; UNICEF/Save the Children, Children in monetary poor households and COVI-19, November 2020.

²⁶ UNICEF/Save the Children, Impact of COVID-19 on multidimensional child poverty, September 2020; UNICEF/Save the Children, Children in monetary poor households and COVI-19, November 2020.

²⁷ UNICEF/Save the Children, Children in monetary poor households and COVI-19, November 2020.

²⁸ Schenck-Fontaine, A. and L. Panico (2019), "Many Kinds of Poverty: Three Dimensions of Economic Hardship, Their Combinations, and Children's Behavior Problems", Demography.

²⁹ Save the Children, Child poverty and social exclusion in Europe: A matter of children's rights, 2014.

³⁰ Statement by Professor Olivier De Schutter, United Nations Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights, on his visit to the European Union, January 2021.

31 Human Rights Council, Annual report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, December 2020.

¹ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ Call to Action. Glasgow: CELCIS - Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde

² Pathfinders for Peace, Just and Inclusive Societies, Justice for Children, Justice for All, June 2019.

³ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ Call to Action. Glasgow: CELCIS - Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde;

⁴ A child protection system is defined by UNICEF as certain structures, functions, and capacities that have been assembled to prevent and respond to abuse, violence, neglect, and exploitation of children. See Connolly, M.; Katz, I.; Shlonsky, A. and Bromfield, L. (2014). Toward a Typology for Child Protection Systems: Final Report to UNICEF and Save the Children UK: UoM Commercial Ltd. Melbourne.

- ³² Statement by Professor Olivier De Schutter, United Nations Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights, on his visit to the European Union, January 2021.
- ³³ OECD, Combatting COVID-19's effect on children, August 2020, p. 29.
- 34 Eurocities, Fighting child poverty in European cities: Lessons from cities for the EU Child Guarantee, December 2020, p. 36.
- ³⁵ Terre des Hommes, Queen's University of Belfast's Center for Children's Rights of, #CovidUnder19 initiative: Children's Rights during Coronavirus: Children's View and Experiences, December 2020.
- ³⁶ JMP UNICEF and WHO, Progress on Drinking Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene in Schools- Special Report on COVID-19, 2020.
- ³⁷ JMP UNICEF and WHO, Progress on Drinking Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene in Schools- Special Report on COVID-19, 2020.
- ³⁸ Save the Children, Global response plan to COVID-19, 2020, p. 17.
- ³⁹ Save the Children, The hidden impact of COVID-19 on children's health and nutrition, 2020, p. 30.
- ⁴⁰ Save the Children, The hidden impact of COVID-19 on children's health and nutrition, 2020, p. 5.
- ⁴¹ HLPE, Impacts of COVID-19 on food security and nutrition: developing effective policy responses to address the hunger and malnutrition pandemic, 2020.
- ⁴² Diana Cuy Castellanos and others, 18 million US children are at risk of hunger: What more can be done?, in Dayton magazine, February 2021.
- ⁴³ Save the Children, The global girlhood report: How COVID-19 is putting progress in peril, 2020.
- ⁴⁴ Save the Children, The global girlhood report: How COVID-19 is putting progress in peril, 2020.
- ⁴⁵ UNICEF, Gender equality and COVID-19, May 2020.
- ⁴⁶ UNICEF, response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe and Central Asia, 2020.
- ⁴⁷ Mitropoulos A., Children of color disproportionately impacted by COVID-19, data reveals, ABCNews, February 2021.
- ⁴⁸ Mitchell F., COVID-19's Disproportionate Effects on Children of Color Will Challenge the Next Generation, in Urban Institute, August 2020.
- $^{\rm 49}$ OECD, Combatting COVID-19's effect on children, August 2020, p. 13.
- ⁵⁰ UNICEF, COVID-19 response: Considerations for children and adults with disabilities, April 2020.
- ⁵¹ UNICEF, response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe and Central Asia, 2020.
- ⁵² OECD, Combatting COVID-19's effect on children, August 2020, p. 11.
- ⁵³ UNICEF, Child migration/displacement and COVID-19. September 2020.
- ⁵⁴ Consortium for street children: Street children are some of the most vulnerable children on the planet.
- ⁵⁵ Ibid., Annual report on violence against children, December 2020, § 77, p 13.
- ⁵⁶ The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action and UNICEF, 'Technical Note: COVID-19 and Children Deprived of their Liberty', April 2020.
- ⁵⁷ The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action and UNICEF, 'Technical Note: COVID-19 and Children Deprived of their Liberty', April 2020
- ⁵⁸ UN News, Coronavirus leading to 'desperately unequal' learning levels: UNICEF, June 2020.; Donoso V., Retzmann N., The impact of the COVID-19 crisis: is online teaching increasing inequality and decreasing well-being for children, posted on LSE, January 2021.
- ⁵⁹ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Youth and COVID-19: Response, recovery and resilience, June 2020.
- 60 https://lisbonproject.org/
- ⁶¹ WHO, Mental Health and Psychosocial Considerations During the COVID-19 Outbreak, March 2020; WHO, Substantial Investment Needed to Avert Mental Health Crisis, May 2020; OECD Centre on Well-being, Inclusion, Sustainability & Equal Opportunity (WISE), Securing the Recovery, Ambition, and Resilience for the Well-being of Children in the post-COVID-19 Decade, October 2020, 7.
- ⁶² Elsley, S and Davidson, J, 'Protecting Children's Well-being in Response to COVID-19: Learning from Past Epidemics' (May 2020) Inspiring Children's Futures Learning Report Series 1/2020, p. 1.
- 63 Mental Health Foundation Scotland, Impacts of lockdown on the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people, September 2020.
- ⁶⁴ OECD Centre on Well-being, Inclusion, Sustainability & Equal Opportunity (WISE), Securing the Recovery, Ambition, and Resilience for the Wellbeing of Children in the post-COVID-19 Decade, October 2020, 7.
- ⁶⁵ Terre des Hommes, Queen's University of Belfast's Center for Children's Rights of, #CovidUnder19 initiative: Children's Rights during Coronavirus: Children's View and Experiences, December 2020, p. 1.
- ⁶⁶ OECD Centre on Well-being, Inclusion, Sustainability & Equal Opportunity (WISE), Securing the Recovery, Ambition, and Resilience for the Wellbeing of Children in the post-COVID-19 Decade, October 2020, 7.
- ⁶⁷ OECD, Combatting COVID-19's effect on children, August 2020, p. 15.
- ⁶⁸ "It is crucial to remember that children's ways of reacting to stressful events are often different from those of adults. These differences need to be recognised and taken into account when providing assistance to children". (Save the Children, Understanding children's wellbeing, 2012)
- ⁶⁹ Save the Children, The Hidden Impact of COVID-19 on child protection and well-being, p. 37.
- ⁷⁰ Alheneidi H., AlSumait L., AlSumait D., Smith A., Loneliness and Problematic Internet Use during COVID-19 Lock-Down, in MDPI Journal, January 2021.
- ⁷¹ Elsley, S and Davidson, J, 'Protecting Children's Well-being in Response to COVID-19: Learning from Past Epidemics' (May 2020) Inspiring Children's Futures Learning Report Series 1/2020.
- ⁷² OECD Centre on Well-being, Inclusion, Sustainability & Equal Opportunity (WISE), Securing the Recovery, Ambition, and Resilience for the Wellbeing of Children in the post-COVID-19 Decade, October 2020, 7.
- ⁷³ Widnall, E. et al. (2020), Initial findings from a secondary school survey study in South West England. Young People's Mental Health during the COVID-19 Pandemic, NIHR School for Public Health Research, Bristol, August 2020.

- ⁷⁴ Save the Children, The Hidden Impact of COVID-19 on child protection and well-being, p. 7.
- ⁷⁵ Terre des Hommes, Queen's University of Belfast's Center for Children's Rights of, #CovidUnder19 initiative: Children's Rights during Coronavirus: Children's View and Experiences, December 2020, p. 22.
- ⁷⁶ Annual report, violence, §66, p 12.
- ⁷⁷ Eurocities, Fighting child poverty in European cities: Lessons from cities for the EU Child Guarantee, December 2020, p. 35.
- ⁷⁸ WHO, Healthy at home campaign: Physical activity.
- ⁷⁹ BMC Public Health Journal, Early effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity and sedentary behavior in children living in the U.S
- ⁸⁰ Steffen Schmidt et al., Physical activity and screen time of children and adolescents before and during the COVID-19 lockdown in Germany: a natural experiment, in Nature Research Journal, December 2020; Sport England, Children's activity levels down but many embrace new opportunities, January 2021; Science Direct, Correlates of children's physical activity during the COVID-19 confinement in Portugal, September 2020.
- ⁸¹ Annual report, violence, §89, p. 15.
- 82 Ibid, Physical activity and screen time of children and adolescents before and during the COVID-19 lockdown in Germany.
- 83 UNICEF Innocenti Office of Research, Does COVID-19 Affect the Health of Children and Young People More Than We Thought?, 2020.
- 84 UNICEF Innocenti Office of Research, Does COVID-19 Affect the Health of Children and Young People More Than We Thought?, 2020.
- 85 UNICEF data hub, COVID-19 and children, Oct. 2020.
- ⁸⁶ https://www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214-109X(20)30229-1/fulltext
- ⁸⁷ UNICEF data hub, COVID-19 and children, Oct. 2020.
- 88 UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Notes from the Field. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2020.
- ⁸⁹ The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action (2020), Technical Note: COVID-19 and Children Deprived of their Liberty, The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action/ UNICEF, April 2020.
- ⁹⁰ Loes H. et al., Does the COVID-19 pandemic impact parents' and adolescents' well-being? An EMA-study on daily affect and parenting, in Plos One.
- ⁹¹ Hamzelou J., Parental burnout is on the rise, says psychologist Moira Mikolajczak, NewScientist, January 2021;
- ⁹² OECD, Treating all children equally? Why policies should adapt to evolving family living arrangements, November 2019.
- ⁹³ Spinelli, M. et al. (2020), "Parents' Stress and Children's Psychological Problems in Families Facing the COVID-19 Outbreak in Italy", Frontiers in Psychology, Vol. 11, p. 1713.
- ⁹⁴ UNICEF, New helplines providing psychosocial support to parents and children, March 2020.
- ⁹⁵ The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action, End Violence Against Children, UNICEF, WHO, COVID-19: Protecting Children from Violence, Abuse and Neglect in the Home, Version 1, May 2020.
- ⁹⁶ The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action and UNICEF, 'Technical Note: COVID-19 and Children Deprived of their Liberty', April 2020.
- ⁹⁷ Human Rights Council, Annual report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, December 2020.
- ⁹⁸ Peterman, Potts, O'Donnell, Thompson, Shah, Oertelt-Prigione, and van Gelder, 'Pandemics and Violence Against Women and Children' (April 2020) CGD Working Paper 528; Peterman A., O'Donnell M., COVID-19 and Violence against Women and Children A Second Research Round Up, Center for Global Development, September 2020; Council of Europe, 'COVID-19 Confinement: States must step up protection of children against sexual exploitation and abuse says Lanzarote Committee' (Council of Europe, 7th April 2020); Interpol, Interpol report highlights impact of COVID-19 on child sexual abuse, September 2020; ECPAT, Why children are at risk of sexual abuse and exploitation during COVID-19, April 2020.
- ⁹⁹ Save the Children, The Hidden Impact of COVID-19 on child protection and well-being, p. 7.
- ¹⁰⁰ WHO, Child maltreatment, fact sheets.
- ¹⁰¹ The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action, End Violence Against Children, UNICEF, WHO, COVID-19: Protecting Children from Violence, Abuse and Neglect in the Home, Version 1, May 2020.
- 102 UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Notes from the Field. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2020.
- 103 We Protect Global Alliance, Impact of COVID-19 on child sexual exploitation and abuse online, 2020.
- ¹⁰⁴ Europol, Pandemic profiteering-How criminal exploit the Covid-19 crisis, March 2020; Interpol, Interpol report highlights impact of COVID-19 on child sexual abuse, September 2020; ECPAT, Why children are at risk of sexual abuse and exploitation during COVID-19, April 2020.
- ¹⁰⁵ We Protect Global Alliance, Impact of COVID-19 on child sexual exploitation and abuse online, 2020.
- ¹⁰⁶ Human Rights Council, Annual report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, December 2020, §76, p. 13.
- ¹⁰⁷ Ibid. §65, p. 11.
- ¹⁰⁸ Ibid. §85, p. 14.
- ¹⁰⁹ Austria, Canada, Croatia, France, Ireland, Kenya, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Portugal, Spain, the United Kingdom, the United States, Thailand and Ukraine, and the Channel Islands.
- ¹¹⁰ Human Rights Council, Annual report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, December 2020, §87, p. 15.
- ¹¹¹ A child protection system is defined by UNICEF as certain structures, functions, and capacities that have been assembled to prevent and respond to abuse, violence, neglect, and exploitation of children. See Connolly, M.; Katz, I.; Shlonsky, A. and Bromfield, L. (2014). Toward a Typology for Child Protection Systems: Final Report to UNICEF and Save the Children UK: UoM Commercial Ltd. Melbourne.
- 112 OECD, Combatting the effects of the COVID-19 on children, August 2020.

- ¹¹³ UNICEF and EU call to action to prioritize school in re-opening plans, September 2020.
- ¹¹⁴ OECD, Education at a Glance 2020: OECD Indicators, OECD Publishing, Paris, September 2020.
- ¹¹⁵ Pietro, D. et al., The likely impact of COVID-19 on education: Reflections based on the existing literature and recent international datasets, Publication Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2020.
- ¹¹⁶ Human Rights Council, Annual report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children, December 2020, §43, p. 8.
- ¹¹⁷ Braunack-Mayer A, Tooher R, Collins JE, Street JM, Marshall H. Understanding the school community's response to school closures during the H1N1 2009 influenza pandemic. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(1).
- ¹¹⁸ Li C., Lalani F., The COVID-19 pandemic has changed education forever. This is how, World Economic Forum, April 2020.
- ¹¹⁹ The times of India, Byju's adds free live classes for students amidst COVID-19 lockdown, April 2020.
- ¹²⁰ BBC, School's Out, Learning's Not! Over 200 teachers and a host of well-known faces to teach the nation's kids, as BBC opens its doors for virtual learning, April 2020. Warrier S., How Byju built the world's highest-valued edtech company, in Rediff.com, January 2019.
- ¹²¹ Goldsmith J., PBS Steps In With Educational Programming As Los Angeles Schools Close, Deadline, March 2020.
- ¹²² Ibid. §65, p.11.
- ¹²³ Save the Children, Global response plan to COVID-19, 2020, p. 17.
- ¹²⁴ The judgments in the court cases referred to: Equal Education and Others v Minister of Basic Education and Others (22588/2020) [2020] ZAGPPHC 306 available at http://www.saflii.org/za/cases/ZAGPPHC/2020/306.html; Skole-Onsersteuningsentrum NPC and Others v Minister of Social Development and Others (24258/2020) [2020] ZAGPPHC 267 available at https://hass.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_cvf6OGkpUJgssaG.
- ¹²⁵ Save the Children, The hidden impact of COVID-19 on children's health and nutrition, 2020, p. 4.
- ¹²⁶ Nicole Petrowski et all., "Violence against children during COVID-19: Assessing and understanding change in use of helplines", in Child Abuse and Neglect, September 2021.
- ¹²⁷ OECD, Combatting the effects of the COVID-19 on children, August 2020.
- ¹²⁸ University of Oxford, Return to school sees improvement in children's mental health, November 2020.
- ¹²⁹ OECD Centre on Well-being, Inclusion, Sustainability & Equal Opportunity (WISE), Securing the Recovery, Ambition, and Resilience for the Wellbeing of Children in the post-COVID-19 Decade, October 2020.
- 130 Eurocities, Fighting child poverty in European cities: Lessons from cities for the EU Child Guarantee, December 2020, p. 36.
- 131 Eurocities, Fighting child poverty in European cities: Lessons from cities for the EU Child Guarantee, December 2020, p. 36.
- ¹³² Save the Children, The Hidden Impact of COVID-19 well-being and protection, p. 7.
- 133 Eurocities, Fighting child poverty in European cities: Lessons from cities for the EU Child Guarantee, December 2020, p. 36.
- ¹³⁴ https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/daily-life-coping/parental-resource-kit/index.html.
- ¹³⁵ https://www.covid19parenting.com/home.
- ¹³⁶ UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Learnings from the Field, December 2020.
- ¹³⁷ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ A Challenge Paper. Scotland: CELCIS-Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde, 9.
- ¹³⁸ UNODC, Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) response –Thematic Brief on gender-based violence against women and girls, April 2020, UNODC, Ensuring Access to Justice in the Context of COVID-19: Guidance Note, May 2020; UN Women, IDLO, UNDP, UNODC, World Bank and The Pathfinders. "Justice for Women Amidst COVID-19." New York, 2020, p.15
- ¹³⁹ UNODC, Ensuring Access to Justice in the Context of COVID-19: Guidance Note, May 2020; UN Women, IDLO, UNDP, UNODC, World Bank and The Pathfinders. "Justice for Women Amidst COVID-19." New York, 2020, p.15
- ¹⁴⁰ Response from the Children's Rights Division (Department of Anti-Discrimination, Directorate General II Democracy) and from the Legal Cooperation Division (Justice and Legal Co-operation Department, Directorate General I Human Rights and Rule of Law) to the online survey "Justice for Children in COVID-19", 8 March 2021.
- 141 CELCIS, Experiences of virtual Children's Hearings: A rapid consultation, Aug 2020
- ¹⁴² UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Notes from the Field. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2020, 29.
- 143 The Council of Europe Convention on Protection of Children against Sexual Exploitation and Sexual Abuse
- ¹⁴⁴ Council of Europe (2020), Protecting and empowering children during the Covid-19 pandemic. All information submitted by States Parties to the Lanzarote Convention on the impact of and responses to the Covid-19 pandemic on the protection of children from sexual exploitation and sexual abuse, as well as other examples of good national practices, can be found on the Council of Europe dedicated webpage, under "Initiatives of States Parties and Observers to the Lanzarote Committee".
- ¹⁴⁵ Op. cit., Council of Europe, "Initiatives of States Parties and Observers to the Lanzarote Committee".
- ¹⁴⁶ Evaluation form filled out in January 2021 by youth lawyers, prosecutors and judges in Belgium after training on child-friendly communication techniques in the framework of the EU-funded project "Youthlab".
- ¹⁴⁷ The Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights issued a statement in April 2020.
- ¹⁴⁸ UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Notes from the Field. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2020,
- ¹⁴⁹ UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Learnings from the Field, December 2020, 15.
- 150 UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Learnings from the Field, December 2020, 15 .
- ¹⁵¹ UN Global Study on Children Deprived of Liberty (2020).

 $^{^{152}}$ UNICEF ECARO, Making best use of the 'Technical Note: COVID-19 and Children Deprived of their Liberty', p. 2.

¹⁵³ UNICEF, Access to Justice for Children in the era of COVID-19: Notes from the Field. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2020.

¹⁵⁴ Holly Hobart and Ajay Shankar Jha Rupesh, "In Nepal, Creative Litigation is Protecting Vulnerable Communities Amidst COVID-19", in International Legal Foundation, May 2020.

¹⁵⁵ Davidson, J.; Elsley, S.; Giraldi, M.; Goudie, A.; Hope, K.; Lyth, A.; Van Keirsbilck, B. (June 2019): Justice for Children, Justice for All: The Challenge to Achieve SDG16+ A Challenge Paper. Scotland: CELCIS-Inspiring Children's Futures, University of Strathclyde, p. 24 – 25.

¹⁵⁶ UNDP, UNICEF, UN Women, As Study of Informal Justice Systems: Access to Justice and Human Rights, 2009.

¹⁵⁷ Customary and Informal Justice Systems: Expanding Women's Access to Justice, Concept Note to a Webinar, Sept. 2020.

 $^{^{158}\,}https://unstats.un.org/legal-identity-agenda/COVID-19/$

¹⁵⁹ UNICEF, Key results for Children Birth Registration: Reaching out to Partners in times of COVID-19, 2020.

 $^{^{160}}$ UNICEF, The #No Name Campaign: For every child, a legal identify.

¹⁶¹ UNICEF, Key results for Children Birth Registration: Reaching out to Partners in times of COVID-19, 2020.

¹⁶² Elsley, S and Davidson, J, 'Protecting Children's Well-being in Response to COVID-19: Learning from Past Epidemics' (May 2020) Inspiring Children's Futures Learning Report Series 1/2020, p. 1.